UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES
TRADING COMMISSION,
CIVIL ACTION NO.

Plaintiff,
Complaint for Injunctive and
V. Other Equitable Relief and
Civil Monetary Penalties Under
DENETTE JOHNSON, The Commodity Exchange Act

COURTNEY CUBBISON MOORE,
JOHN TRACY,

ROBERT HARP,

ANTHONY DIZONA, and

KELLY DYER,

Defendants.

R S N N e e

The United States Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“Commission”), by its

attorneys alleges as follows:
I. Summary

1. As is more fully alleged below, defendants Denette Johnson, Courtney Cubbison
Moore, John Tracy, Robert Harp, Anthony Dizona and Kelly Dyer (collectively “Defendants™)
have engaged in acts and practices that constitute violations of the Commodity Exchange Act, as
amended (the “Act”), 7 U.S.C. §§ 1 ef seq. (2002).

2. Specifically, from at least October 2001 through June 2002 (the “Relevant

Period”), Defendants Johnson, Moore, Tracy, Harp, and Dizona violated Section 9(a)(2) of the



Act, 7U.S.C. § 13(a)(2), by knowingly delivering through the mails or interstate commerce by
telegraph, telephone, wireless, or other means of communication false, miselading or knowingly
inaccurate information concerning market information or conditions that affected or tended to
affect the market price of natural gas. All Defendants further violated Sections 6(c), 6(d) and 9(a)
of the Act by delivering biased market information in an attempt to manipulate the price of
natural gas, a commodity in interstate commerce. Defendants Moore and Dyer also violated
Section 13(a) of the Act, 7.U.S.C. §13c(a), by aiding and abetting the violations of Defendants
Johnson, Moore, Tracy, Harp and Dizona. Defendant Johnson is liable for all violations of the
Act during the relevant period as a controlling person under Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.
§13c(b).

3. Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6¢ of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §13a-1, the Commission
brings this action to enjoin such acts and practices, and compel compliance with the provisions
of the Act. In addition, the Commission seeks civil penalties and such other ancillary relief as
the Court deems necessary or appropriate under the circumstances.

4. Unless restrained and enjoined by this Court, there is a reasonable likelihood that
Defendants will continue to engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint or in
similar acts and practices, as more fully described below.

II. Jurisdiction and Venue

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6¢ of the Act, 7
U.S.C. § 13a-1, which authorizes the Commission to seek injunctive relief against any person, or,
to enforce compliance with the Act whenever it shall appear to the Commission that such person
has engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of

any provision of the Act or any rule, regulation or order thereunder.



6. Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c(e) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.
§ 13a-1(e), in that some Defendants are found in, inhabit and transact business in this District,
and the acts and practices in violation of the Act have occurred, are occurring, or are about to
occur within this District.

III.  The Parties

7. Plaintiff Commission is an independent federal regulatory agency that is charged
with the responsibility for administering and enforcing the provisions of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 1 ez
seq., and the regulations promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1 ef seq.

8. Defendant Denette Johnson (“Johnson”) of The Woodlands, Texas was, during
‘the relevant period, the head of the West Trading Desk at Coral Energy Resources, L.P. and an
employee of Shell Trading Gas and Power Company, both of which are located at 909 Fannin
Street, Suite 700, Houston, Texas.

9. Defendant Courtney Cubbison Moore (“Moore”) of Houston, Texas was, during
the relevant period, a trader on the West Trading Desk at Coral Energy Resources, L.P. and an
employee of Shell Trading Gas and Power Company, both of which are located at 909 Fannin
Street, Suite 700, Houston, Texas.

10.  Defendant John Tracy (“Tracy”) of Murrieta, Califorma was, during the relevant
period, a trader on the West Trading Desk at Coral Energy Resources, L.P. and an employee of
Shell Trading Gas and Power Company, both of which are located at 909 Fannin Street, Suite
700, Houston, Texas.

11.  Defendant Robert Harp (“Harp”) of Houston Texas was, during the relevant

period, a trader on the West Trading Desk at Coral Energy Resources, L.P. and an employee of



Shell Trading Gas and Power Company, both of which are located at 909 Fannin Street, Suite
700, Houston, Texas.

12. Defendant Anthony Dizona (“Dizona”) of Spring, Texas was, during the relevant
period, a trader on the West Trading Desk at Coral Energy Resources, L.P. and an employee of
Shell Trading Gas and Power Company, both of which are located at 909 Fannin Street, Suite
700, Houston, Texas.

13. Defendant Kelly Dyer (“Dyer”) of San Diego, California was, during the relevant
period, an analyst on the West Trading Desk at Coral Energy Resources, L.P. and an employee
of Shell Trading Gas and Power Company, both of which are located at 909 Fannin Street, Suite
700, Houston, Texas.

IV.  Facts

A. The Natural Gas Price Indexes and Defendants’ Natural Gas Trading

14.  During the relevant period, natural gas was a commodity that traveled in interstate
commerce through a network of pipelines across the United States. Defendants Johnson, Moore,
Tracy, Harp and Dizona (collectively, the “Trader Defendants”) were traders employed by Shell
Trading Gas and Power (“STGP”) and were in the business of buying and selling natural gas for
profit on behalf of Coral Energy Resources, L.P. (“Coral”). Among other things, Trader
Defendants entered into transactions calling for the physical delivery of natural gas on behalf of
Coral. Such transactions were called “physical” trades. Physical trades occurred at fixed prices
or at index prices. When physical trades require the delivery of a specific amount of physical
natural gas for each day of the following month, the trades are commonly known in the market as

“baseload” trades.



15.  All Defendants were employees of STGP, which is a North American company
engaged to provide Coral with the services of Defendants. Coral is a North American energy
company engaged in the buying, selling, transportation and storage of physical energy
commodities including, but not limited to, physical natural gas. Trader Defendants also bought
and sold natural gas and related instruments for speculative purposes on behalf of Coral. Trader
Defendants engaged in these trading activities to generate a profit for Coral.

16. During the Relevant Period, Defendants were engaged in trading natural gas for
Coral’s West Desk, which was responsible for trading natural gas in certain discrete areas of the
western United States. Defendants Moore, Tracy, Harp and Dizona were traders on the West
Desk. Defendant Johnson was a trader as well as the head of the West Desk, and Defendant
Dyer was the analyst on the West Desk. Defendant Moore also performed some analyst duties.

17.  Defendants’ employer also established a trading desk for trading natural gas
futures and options contracts on the New York Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX”) and other
related financial instruments valuéd on the price of natural gas. At times, Defendants instructed
traders on the NYMEX desk to enter into futures transactions on the NYMEX for hedging and
speculative purposes.

18.  Trader Defendants traded a variety of instruments, including contracts involving
fixed-price, physical natural gas and index-based, over-the-counter, physical natural gas.

19. During the relevant period, Trader Defendants reported natural gas market
information, i.e., price and volume data of purported natural gas trades, to certain services that
provide natural gas price indexes (“Reporting Firms™). The Reporting Firms to whom Trader
Defendants reported price and volume data included Platts, a division of The McGraw-Hill

Companies, which issued a monthly index for various natural gas hubs titled /nside FERC Gas



Market Report (“IFERC”) and a daily index for various natural gas hubs titled Gas Daily.
Trader Defendants also reported natural gas market information to Intelligence Press, Inc., which
issued a monthly index for various natural gas hubs titled Natural Gas Intelligence (“NGI”).

20.  During the relevant period, STGP and Coral maintained a company policy on
Communication with Pricing Agencies. As a condition of employment, each Defendant agreed
to be bound by this company policy. The policy prohibits communicating deal/price information
to recognized journalists of reputable publications by any employee other than those employees
in nominated positions. The policy further states that “It is not in Shell’s interest that this
reporting of information is distorted . . . .” Defendant Johnson, while head of the West Desk,
took no steps to enforce this policy.

21.  IFERC and NGI natural gas price indexes were used by a variety of market
participants in the spot and over-the-counter derivatives markets to price and settle their natural
gas deals. IFERC and NGI natural gas price indexes were used by natural gas futures and
options traders for price discovery and for assessing price risks.

22.  During the relevant period, /FERC and NGI sought to compile their price indexes
using price and volume information taken from actual, fixed price, physical, natural gas trades
executed between two counterparties. Accordingly, /JFERC and NGI sought from Trader
Defendants specific market information, i.e., price and volume data, derived from fixed price,
physical, natural gas trades the traders actually executed. Trader Defendants knew that IFERC
and NGI sought to compile their indexes using such market information. Trader Defendants
submitted price and volume data to JFERC and NGI so that they would use the Trader

Defendants’ market information in compiling their indexes.



23. Consequently, because market participants use /FERC and NG/ in the natural
gas spot, over-the-counter derivatives, futures, and options markets, the price and volume data
reported by the Trader Defendants to those publications is market information that affects or
tends to affect the price of natural gas in interstate commerce.

B. Defendants’ Delivery of False, Misleading and Knowingly Inaccurate Market
Information to Compilers of Natural Gas Price Indexes

24. During the Relevant Period, Trader Defendants knowingly delivered information
regarding thousands of individual fixed-price, physical, baseload natural gas trades for the West
Desk as “Coral” trades to /FERC and NGI. However, the vast majority of these trades reported
to IFERC and NGI by Trader Defendants were not trades actually executed by STGP or Coral.
Instead, the vast majority of trades reported by Trader Defendants were trades that were
purportedly executed between other market participants.

25. Trader Defendants knew that the trades described in paragraph 24 and reported to
IFERC and NGI were false, misleading or inaccurate because Defendants knew that the trades
reported as “Coral” trades were not Coral trades. At no time during the relevant period did any
Defendant take any steps to comply with or enforce the company’s policy on Communication
with Pricing Agencies.

26. Specifically, on a monthly basis from as early as October 2001 and continuing to
at least June 2002, Trader Defendants knowingly delivered reports containing knowingly
inaccurate fixed-price, physical, baseload trade information for at least nine (9) locations,
including El Paso Permian Basin, San Juan Basin, Southern California, PG&E Citygate, PG&E
Topock, Malin, Rockies, Northwest Pipeline. For example, on June 28, 2002, Trader Defendants
reported as “Coral Energy Resources July 2002 Deals” trade information for 158 separate fixed-

price, physical, baseload trades at these locations. However, during the pertinent bidweek of



June 2002, all traders on the West Desk actually executed a total of 13 fixed-price, physical,
baseload trades at those locations. Further, only one trade that Trader Defendants actually
executed appears on the spreadsheet provided to JFERC. Trader Defendants’ reports of fixed
price, physical, baseload trade information for these locations were sent to JFERC and NGI, both
of which issued price indexes for at least some of those locations.

C. Attempted Manipulation

27. During the Relevant Period, Trader Defendants were responsible for trading
physical natural gas in interstate commerce.

28.  During the Relevant Period, Trader Defendants were responsible for reporting
trade data connected to Trader Defendants’ fixed-price, physical, baseload trades to JFERC and
NGI on a monthly basis. During the Relevant Period, Trader Defendants reported trade data
represented to be fixed-price, physical, baseload trades via facsimile and e-mail. The Trader
Defendants reported trade data for those locations for which they executed physical natural gas
transactions.

29. The “‘Index Directions’ Price Manipulation Scheme: Each month during

bidweek, from at least October 2001 to January 2002, and from March 2002 until approximately
June 2002, Defendant Dyer circulated an e-mail specifically to the individuals on the West Desk
that reported trade information to /nside FERC and NGI, including Trader Defendants,
hereinafter the “Index Directions e-mail.” In February 2002, Defendant Moore circulated an e-
mail that was functionally the same as the Index Directioné e-mail. This e-mail was circulated
prior to circulation of the spreadsheet used to report information to JFERC and NGI. The Index

Directions e-mail was also circulated after the NYMEX natural gas futures contract had expired



for the prompt month. During this windéw of time, usually on or about the last day of bidweek,
Defendant Dyer sent out the Index Directions e-mails.

30. The Index Directions e-mails included as an attachment a spreadsheet listing the
locations for which the West Desk reported price and volume information to the indexes. The
spreadsheet also contained three columns of information for each location. The first column
contained the trader’s mark, i.e., the trader’s estimate of what the index would publish as the
price for a location. Each mark, or estimate, was obtained from the trader who was primarily
responsible for the trading activity at a particular location. This same trader was also responsible
for submitting trade information that would be reported to the price indexes. The mark was
obtained earlier by Defendant Dyer from the pertinent trader. The second and third columns
were titled “Up” and “Down,” respectively. Under the Up and Down columns were the words
“Bad” or “Good”. The word “Bad” was in a red-colored font and the word “Good” was in a
green-colored font. Below is an example of the spreadsheet that was sent with the “Index

Directions” e-mail dated October 31, 2001.

Up Down

NwW 2.5900 Bad Good
San Juan 2.7300 Bad Good
Malin 2.9000 Bad Good
Socal 2.9600 Bad Good
Gate 3.0400 Good Bad

Perm 2.8300 Bad Good
Sumas 2.8400Bad Good
PG&E Top 2.9700 Bad Good

This particular Index Direction e-mail also includes the text “Please see the attached spreadsheet

about where we should report indexes.”



31. Defendant Dyer mputted the words “good” or “bad” in the e-mail’s spreadsheet

depending on whether the index publishing above or below the trader’s mark would positively or

negatively affect Coral’s revenues.

32.  The purpose of the Index Directions e-mail was to direct Trader Defendants to
report trade information to the price indexes so that it would benefit Coral’s revenues. In
responding to the Index Directions e-mail, Trader Defendants knowingly reported biased trade
information to /FERC and NGI with the intent to affect the price of natural gas in interstate
commerce. If the manipulation of the price of natural gas had been successful, it could have
affected the price of natural gas, a commodity in interstate commerce, and the price of natural
gas futures and options contracts traded on the NYMEX.

33. Specifically, at locations where Coral had exposure to the published indexes,
Trader Defendants overwhelmingly reported so as to positively affect Coral’s revenues. Further,
all of the volumes reported to /FERC and NGI were vastly inflated, which would tend to give the
trades reported by Trader Defendants greater influence over the ultimately published price index.

34. The trade data reported by Trader Defendants during the Relevant Period was
identified as “Coral Energy Resources [MONTH-YEAR] Deals” and was always reported in a
form that made it appear that the trades being reported were fixed-priced, physical, baseload
trades executed by Coral Energy Resources during bidweek. Defendants knew that /FERC and
NGI requested information regarding fixed-price, physical, baseload trades.

35. During the relevant period, Defendant Johnson, while head of the west trading
desk, controlled the activities of, and was aware of, the price reporting activities of the other
defendants, as well as the Index Directions manipulative scheme, but did not take any steps to

prevent these activities. Further, in spite of the fact that Defendant Johnson controlled the
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activities on the west trading desk, she took no steps to enforce the company policy regarding
communicating with pricing agencies.
V. VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT

Count I: Knowing Delivery of Knowingly Inaccurate Information

36. Paragraphs 1 through 35 are realleged and incorporated herein by reference.

37. It is a violation of Section 9(a)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.A§ 13(a)(2), for any person,
inter alia, “knowingly to deliver or cause to be delivered for transmission through the mails or
interstate commerce by telegraph, telephone, wireless, or other means of communication false or
misleading or knowingly inaccurate reports concerning crop or market information or conditions
that affect or tend to affect the price of any commodity in interstate commerce . . . .”

38. Defendants Johnson, Moore, Tracy, Harp and Dizona violated Section 9(a)(2) of
the Act when they knowingly delivered by facsimile and via e-mail or other means in interstate
commerce reports to /JFERC and NG/ that contained false, misleading and knowingly inaccurate
market information, such as price and volume information for purported natural gas trades, as
well as entirely fictitious purported natural gas trades, and/or failed to include actual natural gas
trades by Defendants.

39.  Each and every false, misleading and knowingly inaccurate report knowingly
delivered by Defendants Johnson, Moore, Tracy, Harp and Dizona to /FERC and NGI, as
described above, is alleged herein as a separate and distinct violation of Section 9(a)(2) of the
Act, 7U.S.C. §13(a)(2).

Count II: Attempted Manipulation of the Natural Gas Price Indexes

40. Paragraphs 1 through 35 are realleged and incorporated herein by reference.

11



41. Sections 6(c) and 6(d) and 9(a)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6(c), 6(d), and 13(a)(2),
make it illegal for any person to attempt to manipulate the market price of any commodity in
interstate commerce, or for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered entity,
including any contract market.

42. Defendants Johnson, Moore, Tracy, Harp, Dizona and Dyer (a) had the intent to
affect the market price of natural gas in interstate commerce, and (b) overtly acted in furtherance
of that intent to affect the market price of natural gas.

43, Each and every act of attempted manipulation, as described above, is alleged
herein as a separate and distinct violation of Sections 6(c) and 6(d) and 9(a)(2) of the Act, 7
U.S.C. §§ 6(c), 6(d), and 13(a)(2).

Count 111: Aiding and Abetting

44, Paragraphs 1 through 43 are realleged and incorporated herein by reference.

45. Section 13(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §13c(a), makes it illegal for any person to
willfully aid, abet, counsel, command, induce or procure the violation of any provision of the
Act, or who acts in combination or concert with any other person in any such violation, may be
held responsible for such violation as a principal.

46. Defendants Moore and Dyer willfully aided, abetted, counseled, commanded,
induced or procured the violations of the Act alleged herein, or acted in combination or concert
with Defendants Johnson, Moore, Tracy, Harp and Dizona in the commission of the violations of
the Act as alleged herein. Therefore, Defendants Moore and Dyer are liable for the violations of
the Act committed by Defendants Johnson, Moore, Tracy, Harp and Dizona as principals.

47. Each and every act of aiding, abetting, counseling, commanding, inducing or

procuring the violations of the Act, or action in combination or concert with Defendants Johnson,
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Moore, Tracy, Harp and Dizona in the commission of the violations of the Act are alleged herein
as a separate and distinct violation of Section 13(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §13c(a).

Count IV: Controlling Person Liability

48.  Paragraphs 1 through 47 are realleged and incorporated herein by reference.

49. Section 13(b) of the Aét, 7 U.S.C. §13c(b), provides that any person that, directly
or indirectly, controls any person who has violated any provision of the Act may be held liable
for such violation in any action brought by the Commission to the same extgnt as such controlled
person if the controlling person did not act in good faith or knowingly induced, directly or
indirectly, the act or acts constituting the violation.

50. Defendant Johnson directly or indirectly controlled Defendants Moore, Tracy,
Harp, Dizona, and Dyer and failed to act in good faith, or knowingly induced, directly or
indirectly, the acts constituting the violations. Defendant Johnson is therefore liable for each
violation by Defendants Moore, Tracy, Harp, Dizona and Dyer to the same extent as Defendants
Moore, Tracy, Harp, Dizona and Dyer.

V1.  Relief Requested

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Commission respectfully requests that this Court enter an order
of permanent injunction:

A. restraining and enjoining Defendants, from directly or indirectly violating Section
9(a)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(2);

B. directing Defendants to pay civil monetary penalties, to be assessed by the Court
separately against each Defendant, in amounts not to exceed $120,000 for each violation or triple

the monetary gain to them for each violation of the Act, as described herein;
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C. directing Defendants to make full restitution of funds received by them as a result
of acts and practices which constituted violations of the Act and Regulations, as described
herein, and interest thereon from the date of such violations;

D. directing Defendants, to disgorge, pursuant to such procedure as the Court may
order, all benefits received, directly or indirectly, from acts and practices which constituted
violations of the Act and Regulations, as described herein, and interest thereon from the date of
such violations;

E. providing for such other and further remedial and ancillary relief as this Court
may deem necessary and appropriate.

Dated: January 31, 2005

Respectfully Submitted,

Yot

aul Hayeck, Associate Director

John Dunfee, Chief Trial Attorney
Joseph Konizeski, Senior Trial Attorney,
Attorney In Charge

Commodity Futures Trading Commission
1155 21 Street N.W,

Washington, D.C. 20581

(202)418-5334

(202)418-5523 (facsimile)
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